SUPREME CO&T OF FLORIDA

Case No.: 82,934

FILED

FEB 21 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

CHANDRIS, S.A., CHANDRIS INC., d/b/a CHANDRIS CRUISE LINES, TRANSPORT MUTUAL SERVICES, INC., NIKOLAS MILIARESIS, and MATRONA MILIARESIS,

Defendants-Appellants,

vs.

.

BASIL **YANAKAKIS**, IRA H. LEESFIELD and ROGER BLACKBURN, d/b/a LEESFIELD & BLACKBURN, P.A.,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR **THE** ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, CHANDRIS, S.A. AND CHANDRIS, INC.

DAVID J. HORR, P.A. Attorneys for Defendants-Appellants One Datran Center Suite 1110 9100 South Dadeland Boulevard Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 670-2525

INTRODUCTION

CHANDRIS, S.A. and CHANDRIS, INC., Defendants below and Defendants here shall be referred to as "Defendant" or "CHANDRIS". Appellant, Transport Mutual Services, INC. shall be referred to as "Defendant" or "TMS". In several instances these parties will be referred to collectively as "Defendants".

Basil Yanakakis, Ira H. Leesfield, and Roger L. Blackburn d/b/a Leesfield & Blackburn, P.A., Plaintiffs below, shall be referred to as "Plaintiffs", or "Yanakakis", or "Leesfield & Blackburn".

References to exhibits introduced into evidence at trial will be referred to as "Ex." with a corresponding exhibit number. Reference to Exhibits marked by the Court will be by "Ct. Ex.". References to the Supplement Record on Appeal will be by "Supp. Rec." Reference to the Record Excerpts filed with this brief will be by "RE-". Reference to the Appendix will be by "A-".

III.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. <u>Nature of the Case</u>

- 1

Pursuant to Article V, \$3(b)(6) of the Florida Constitution the United States Court of Appeals for the, Eleventh Circuit has certified two questions to this Court for determination. <u>Yanakakis v. Chandris S.A.</u>, 9 F. 3d 1509 (11th Cir. 1993). The Eleventh Circuit characterized these two questions as being of "first impression" under Florida Law, to wit:

- 1. Whether an out of state attorney who resides in Florida but is not associated with a Florida law firm, engages in the unauthorized practice of law where that attorney enters into a contingent fee agreement in Florida thereby rendering that fee agreement void; and
- 2. Whether a fee agreement of a Florida law firm born of a fee agreement that is void as the unauthorized practice of law is itself void.

B. <u>Course of the proceedincrs and disposition in the lower</u> tribunal.

This is an appeal from a judgment rendered after a 18 day jury trial conducted in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida presided over by Judge Jacob Mishler sitting by designation. After a "two-step" trial a judgment was rendered in favor of the Plaintiffs for \$600,000 in compensatory damages, 2.6 million dollars in punitive damages against Chandris, S.A. and Chandris, Inc., and \$550,000 in punitive damages against Transport Mutual Services.

Suit was initiated on September 9, 1987, against Chandris, S.A. and Chandris, Inc. alleging tortious interference with a contract. (R1-1). Attached to the initial Complaint was an authority to represent dated March 18, 1985. (Ex. 86) The authority to represent refers to prosecution of a claim for damages for personal injuries sustained by Nikolas Miliaresis in an accident in Cozumel, Mexico, on October 3, 1984. The authority to represent refers to Basil Yanakakis and Leesfield & Blackburn, P.A., as attorneys. This authority to represent is signed only by Basil Yanakakis and Nikolas Miliaresis.

On October 5, 1988, a Second Amended Complaint (R3-40-2) was filed alleging a claim for tortious interference with a contract for legal representation and attaching only the March 18, 1985 agreement, This Second Amended Complaint joined Defendant, Transport Mutual Services, Inc. Also, in the Second Amended Complaint, Nikolas and Matrona Miliaresis, Plaintiffs, alleged former clients of Plaintiffs, were sued for breach of contract and fraud. (R3-40-10-13).

Nikolas Miliaresis was injured on October 3, 1984 aboard the Panamanian flag cruiseship AMERIKANIS, managed by Chandris, S.A. Mr. Miliaresis sustained a severe injury to his right lower leg in a mooring line accident. He was airlifted to Miami for microsurgical treatment.

On February 6, 1985 a suit seeking recovery for personal injuries ostensibly on Nikolas Miliaresis' behalf against "Chandris

Lines" was filed by Appellees, Leesfield & Blackburn, P.A. This suit alleged the applicability of 46 U.S.C. §688 (The Jones Act) and the General Maritime Law of the United States, The claim of Nikolas Miliaresis was settled by Nikolas Miliaresis in Greece on March 12, 1986 without participation by Yanakakis or Leesfield & Blackburn. Yanakakis and Leesfield & Blackburn's claims for tortious interference were based on this settlement.

In answer to Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint, Defendants asserted the claim for tortious interference with a contract for legal representation was legally precluded due to the illegality of the contract. (R4-85). Plaintiff, Yanakakis, an attorney admitted only in Massachusetts, engaged in the unauthorized practice of law in the State of Florida in procuring the contracts of representation and representing Nikolas Miliaresis. Additionally, the March 18, 1985 "Authority to Represent" is unconscionable and in violation of Florida Disciplinary Rule 2-106(E) and DR2-107(A)(2)(a).

Another "Authority to Represent" surfaced in January of 1991. (Ex. 87). This document identifies only Plaintiff, Basil Yanakakis as the "accepting attorney" and Nikolas Miliaresis as the "client".

Plaintiffs moved for partial summary judgment dismissing Defendants' claim that Yanakakis' unauthorized practice of law barred recovery on January 18, 1991 (R10-209). Defendants crossmoved for judgment on Appellees' claim for tortious interference with contract asserting the invalidity of the contract based upon

unauthorized practice of law by Appellee Yanakakis and the failure of the March 18, 1985 Authority to Represent to comply with Florida Disciplinary Rules (Accord. Folder 1-252; R15-253).

Plaintiffs' motion directed to the defense of unauthorized practice was granted and appellants' cross-motion was denied by opinion and order dated March 5, 1991. (R15-262). The trial court held -- without citation to any authority -- that Yanakakis, despite his Florida domicile and non-admitted status, was permitted to enter into a contingent fee retainer agreement for the prosecution of a personal injury case which he intended be brought in a court in the State of Florida (R15-262). The trial court also concluded without proof that the "choice of the forum [for the alleged Jones Act case in state court] was [Appellee] Leesfield's" as opposed to that of Yanakakis, and that "Yanakakis could reasonably have anticipated that had the forum been the U.S. District Court, an application for permission to appear pro hac vice would have been granted" (R15-262). The trial court excused Mr. Yanakakis' admitted practice of law in connection with the Miliaresis' suit for damages because "Yanakakis was permitted to advise Nikolas on international law and maritime law" again citing no authority. The trial court observed that: "[w]ere we to find that Yanakakis engaged in the unauthorized practice of law...we would nevertheless find that such activity did not affect the validity of the retainer agreement with Leesfield", although Florida Disciplinary Rules 3-101 to 104 forbid assisting unauthorized practice; and that: "the validity of a retainer

agreement does not depend upon the execution of a written contract" (R15-262), despite contrary provisions of Florida Disciplinary Rules 2-106(E) and DR 2-107(A)(2)(a).

At trial the only proof Plaintiffs offered on damages was that direct settlement of the Miliaresis' claim caused them to lose the expectancy of a fee based upon the percentages stated in the Authorities to Represent applied to the "true value" of the case brought in state court. The Plaintiffs did not urge nor prove any claim for quantum merit compensation for their services.

On May 1, 1991, the jury returned a verdict finding that the "true value" of Nikolas Miliaresis' claim initiated in Florida state court was \$1,500,000. (R18-302). Apparently applying the percentages set forth in the Authority to Represent the trial judge awarded Plaintiffs judgment for \$600,000 compensatory damages, in lieu of fees.

After the verdict awarding compensatory damages Defendants moved to bar trial for punitive damages amount based on the special verdict finding that no appellant had acted with malice. (R18-309) This motion was denied orally. On May 9, 1991 at the conclusion of the second step trial, the jury returned a verdictassessingpunitive damages of \$2,600,000 against "Chandris" and \$550,000 against TMS. Defendants moved for directed verdict at the end of Plaintiffs' case (R31-475-499) and at the close of evidence (R34-1206-19). Defendants' post-trial motions were denied initially by the Court as untimely (R20-347), a ruling which potentially would have deprived Defendants of any appeal. On

February 18, 1992, the trial court, having been given leave and guidance by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, entertained and denied Defendants' post-trial motions (Supp. Rec. 4-390).

٠,

Defendants' post-trial motions renewed argument on the issues of unauthorized practice of law by Yanakakis; Leesfield & Blackburn's failure to comply with the legal requisites for a valid contingency fee contract of representation, and the disciplinary rules against assisting unauthorized practice; and the resultant invalidity of both authorities to represent. Defendants requested the trial court to rule that the contracts were void and could not be a proper basis for judgment in favor of Plaintiffs. (R10-337-338).

After the post-trial motions were denied on their merits, Defendants initiated an appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. Several issues were argued on appeal.

The Eleventh Circuit stated that its certification of the two (2) questions is not meant to limit the scope of inquiry by the Supreme Court of Florida. Citing from <u>Martinez v. Rodriguez</u>, 394 F.2d 156, 159 n. 6 (5th Cir. 1968), the Eleventh Circuit observed that its phrasing of the questions certified is "not to restrict the Supreme Court's consideration of the problems involved and the issues as the Supreme Court perceives them to be in its analysis of the record certified in this case." <u>Yanakakis</u>, 9 F.3d at 1514.

In the opinion certifying the aforesaid questions the Eleventh Circuit acknowledged Defendants' contention the District

Court erred in denying Defendants' cross-motion for summary judgment. The Eleventh Circuit observed correctly that a decision on the cross-motion for summary judgment in favor of the Defendants will eliminate the necessity of considering the balance of the issues presented to the Eleventh Circuit on Appeal from the judgment rendered by the trial court in this action.

However, on Appeal, Defendants also sought review of the orders by the trial court denying Defendants' post-trial motions which raised issues pertaining to the questions certified by the Eleventh Circuit to the Florida Supreme Court. Consistent with the Eleventh Circuit's recognition the scope of inquiry of the Supreme Court of Florida here is not necessarily limited to the review expressed by the Eleventh Circuit in its opinion. Defendants Chandris S.A. and Chandris, Inc. submit it is appropriate for this Court to consider testimony adduced at trial in the course of responding to the questions certified by the Eleventh Circuit.

c. <u>Statement of the facts.</u>

The opinion of the Eleventh Circuit certifying questions to this Court sets forth a narration of the facts capsulizing certain salient aspects of the transactions underlying the questions certified to this Court for determination. Moreover, the briefs submitted by Appellants to the Eleventh Circuit were transmitted to this Court and set forth a recitation of the facts. In view of these circumstances, Chandris will forebear from an extensive recitation of the facts. However, a recap of certain particulars is useful to put the questions certified in proper

perspective. For brevity's sake Chandris will then adopt the balance of the statement of facts set forth by Appellant Transport Mutual Services (hereinafter TMS).

The October 16, 1984 authority to represent (Ex. 87) was executed in Jackson Memorial Hospital, Miami, Florida by Basil Yanakakis and by Nikolas Miliaresis. The authority to represent was also witnessed by Nikolas' brother, Gerasimos Miliaresis. (R14-245; G. Miliaresis' Aff. p.2).

Gerasimos Miliaresis learned of his brother's accident and was flown to Miami at the expense of Chandris to be with his brother while he was in Jackson Memorial Hospital. (R14-245 G. Miliaresis' Aff. paragraphs 2 and 3).

After Gerasimos Miliaresis' arrival, he met Basil Yanakakis who advised Gerasimos and Nikolas Miliaresis that he was a lawyer who could handle his brother's affairs in Florida. (R14-245 G. Miliaresis Aff. paragraphs 4, 5, and 6). Mr. Yanakakis gave Gerasimos Miliaresis a business card with his name, address and confirmation that he was an attorney. (R14-245 G. Miliaresis' Aff. paragraph 11). During Gerasimos Miliaresis' stay in Miami between October 7 and November 18, he did not meet any other lawyers nor discuss his brother's case with any other lawyers other than Mr. Yanakakis. During that period of time Yanakakis advised that he was a lawyer and that if the Miliaresis brothers wanted to make a claim against the P & I Club, he could do it for them in Miami. (R14-245 G. Miliaresis' Aff. paragraphs 12 and 13).

The agreement of 16 October 1984 that Mr. Yanakakis

presented to Nikolas Miliaresis was in English. The only thing explained by Yanakakis to Miliaresis was the attorney's fees. Yanakakis did explain to Nikolas Miliaresis that he had other associates that would assist him in the handling of the case, but that he would be the only one handling Nikolas Miliaresis' affairs. At all times, Nikolas Miliaresis understood Yanakakis to be his lawyer and the only lawyer that he had who was responsible for the handling of his case. (R14-245 N. Miliaresis' Aff. paragraphs 9, 12, 14 and 15).

The October 16, 1984 authority to represent identified Yanakakis as "an attorney from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts" and as Nikolas Miliaresis' "attorney", retained to prosecute a claim for damages against "Chandris Lines Co., Owner of S/S AMERIKANIS", the vessel aboard which he was injured. (Ex. 87)

A second alleged authority to represent dated March 18, 1985 identified Yanakakis and Appellee, Leesfield and Blackburn, P.A., as "attorneys". (Ex. 86) This "agreement" was signed only by Yanakakis and not by Leesfield and Blackburn, P.A. or any of its members, Miliaresis could not read or write English, nor could he speak it fluently at the time. (R14-245; N. Miliaresis' Aff. p.1; R31-521). Indeed, Yanakakis described Nikolas Miliaresis' knowledge of English as "practically" none (Accord. Folder No. 2; Yanakakis Dep., September 21, 1989, p.91).

The only aspect of the retainer agreements ever explained to Miliaresis by Yanakakis was the "fee" that Yanakakis would take. Miliaresis was never told there was going to be a division of

attorneys' fees between Yanakakis and any other lawyer (R14-245; N. Miliaresis' Aff. p.3). Neither the October 16, 1984 nor March 18, 1985 Authorities reflect any indication fees would be divided among attorneys. On the contrary, Yanakakis informed Miliaresis at all times that he was a qualified lawyer who could "handle the matter" for Mr. Miliaresis in Miami and that he had "associates" who would assist him (R14-245; N. Miliaresis' Aff. pp.2-3). Similarly, Yanakakis informed Gerasimos Miliaresis he was a "lawyer who could handle his brother's affairs in Florida** (R14-245; G. Miliaresis' Aff. pp.2, 4).

Gerasimos Miliaresis visited Yanakakis at his office on October 10, 1984 (Yanakakis Dep., January 22, 1991, p.60; R22-151-152). On this occasion, Yanakakis gave Gerasimos Miliaresis a printedmailing sticker identifying himself as "Basil S. Yanakakis, Attorney at Law, Suite 801 New World Tower, 100 North Biscayne Boulevard, Miami, Florida 33132 (Aff. of G. Miliaresis; R22-154; See, Appellant's Exhibit B).

Nikolas and Gerasimos Miliaresis both testified that Yanakakis never disclosed he was not a Florida attorney, or that an admitted Florida attorney would have to be retained to prosecute Miliaresis' claim (R14-245; N. Miliaresis Aff.; G. Miliaresis Aff.; R31-532; R32-686-718-19).

Yanakakis has been domiciled in the State of Florida since 1979 and resided continuously in Florida since 1980. (Yanakakis Dep. September 21, 1989, pp. 6, 21; R22-136-37). The only state in which Yanakakis was admitted to practice law was the

Commonwealth of Massachusetts where he last practiced in 1979. In 1980, Yanakakis discontinued the practice of law and moved to Florida where he became involved in real estate and managed personal investments. Yanakakis did not complete the Florida Bar examination although he claimed to have taken only a portion in 1980 (Yanakakis Dep., September 21, 1989 pp. 6, 19; R22-32).

Appellants Chandris S.A and Chandris, Inc. adopt as if set forth at length herein the balance of the recitation of "facts relevant to the questions certified" set forth in the brief of Co-Appellant TMS commencing at page 13 of the brief of Transport Mutual Services, Inc.

V. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

At all times material, Basil Yanakakis was permanently domiciled and residing continuously in Florida. All Yanakakis' activities and dealings with Nikolas Miliaresis took place within Florida. In his dealings with Nikolas Miliaresis, Yanakakis engaged in the unauthorized practice of law.

The October 16, 1984 Authority to Represent signed by Miliaresis, the dealings leading up to it, and Yanakakis' activities thereafter constituted the unauthorized practice of law since Yanakakis was not admitted to practice law in Florida. The October 16, 1984 Authority to Represent was void ab initio.

The March 18, 1985 Authority to Represent was also procured through Yanakakis' unauthorized practice of law. Moreover, Leesfield and Blackburn failed to comply with several legal

requisites for contingency fee contracts and **impermissibly** assisted Yanakakis in the unauthorized practice of law. As a result the March 18, 1985 Authority to Represent was void <u>ab</u> initio and cannot be the basis for a claim of tortious interference.

The Court should respond "yes" to both of the questions certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit.

VI. ARGUMENT

۰.

A. <u>YANAKAKIS ACTIVITIES CONSTITUTED THE UNAUTHORIZED</u> <u>PRACTICE OF LAW RENDERING BOTH AUTHORITIES TO</u> <u>REPRESENT VOID.</u>

In Florida a contract is void and cannot be a source of rights if either the formation or the performance of the contract is criminal, tortious or otherwise opposed to public policy. <u>Thomas v. Ratiner</u>, 462 So.2d 1157, 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) review denied 472 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1985); <u>See</u> also <u>Sunbeam Corporation v.</u> <u>Masters of Miami, Inc.</u>, 225 F.2d 191 (5th Cir. 1955); <u>See</u> also Yanakakis v. Chandris <u>S.A.</u>, 9 F.3d 1509 (11th Cir. 1993).

Article V § 15 of the Florida Constitution states "The Supreme Court shall have exclusive -Jurisdiction to regulate the admission of persons to the practice of law..." It is recognized this section

... carries with it the power to prevent the practice of law by those who are not admitted to the practice. We think that it must and it does for if it does not the express power to control admissions would be meaningless.

State of Florida ex rel. The Florida Bar v. Sperry, 140 So.2d 587

(Fla. 1962), judgment vacated on other grounds 373 U.S. 379 (1963). This Court declined to define a rigid test for determining what constitutes practicing law. In <u>Sperry</u> the Court discussed the unauthorized practice of law question in the following terms:

٩.

... if the giving of such advice and performance of such services affect important rights of a person under the law, and if the reasonable protection of the rights and property of those advised and served requires that the persons giving such advice possess legal skill and a knowledge of the law greater than that possessed by the average citizen, then the giving of such advice and the performance of such services by one for another as a course of conduct constitute the practice of law.

In drafting the October 16, 1984 Authority to Represent, and obtaining the signature of Nikolas Miliaresis on the contract, Basil Yanakakis was impermissibly practicing law in Florida. See, <u>The Florida Bar v. Arango</u>, 461 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1985); <u>The Florida Bar v. Snapp</u>, 472 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1985); <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Strickland</u>, 468 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1985). Yanakakis unquestionably offered to represent Miliaresis for a fee in his "claim for damages against Chandris Lines Co., Owner of S.S. AMERIEANIS . . . resulting from injuries sustained as a result of an accident which occurred on board the S.S. AMERIKANIS on or about October 3, 1984". (Ex. 87). The October 16, 1984 contract was signed "at Miami". Id.

Yanakakis' use of a mailing label or stationery identifying himself as a practicing attorney with a Miami office clearly constitutes the unauthorized practice of law in Florida. (Aff. of G. Miliaresis,; R22-154; -Appellants' Exhibit B); The

<u>Florida Bar v. Aranqo</u>, 461 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1984); <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Martin</u>, 432 So.2d 54 (Fla. 1983).

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