017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,934

CHANDRIS, S.A.; CHANDRIS INC., d/b/a CHANDRIS CRUISE LINES; and TRANSPORT MUTUAL SERVICES, INC.,

Defendants, Appellants,

vs.

BASIL YANAKAKIS; IRA H. LEESFIELD; and ROGER BLACKBURN, d/b/a LEESFIELD & BLACKBURN, P.A.,

Plaintiffs, Appellees.



ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

LEESFIELD & BLACKBURN, P.A. 2350 South Dixie Highway Miami, Fla. 33131

CUNNINGHAM LAW GROUP, P.A.
100 Ashley Drive South
Suite 100
Tampa, Fla. 33602
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

We are allotted only 50 pages in which to respond to the 65 pages of the defendants' briefs; and because the defendants have refused to honor the procedural and factual foundation specified for the certified questions, we have had to devote nearly 16 of those 50 pages to a restatement of the case and facts. Space for argument is therefore at a premium here. And because we would like to devote the limited remaining space to as thorough an argument as we can make on the important questions before the Court, we simply do not have the space available to repeat that argument here in abbreviated form. Requesting the Court's indulgence, we turn directly to the merits.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. MR. YANAKAKIS' CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP WITH MR. MILIARESIS WAS NOT ILLEGAL, AND HIS CONTRACT WAS THEREFORE NOT VOID *AB INITIO*.

1. A contextual introduction.

As always, context is important. And to place the first certified question in its proper context, we should first explain its import to the larger controversy between the parties. The gravamen of Mr. Yanakakis' claim was, of course, that the defendants tortiously interfered with his contractual relationship with Mr. Miliaresis -- and to defeat that claim in the manner in which the defendants are attempting to defeat it in this case (after successfully defeating Mr. Miliaresis' Jones Act claim against them by inducing him to accept a small fraction of what it was worth), it was necessary for the defendants to prove that Mr. Yanakakis had no

valid contractual relationship whatsoever with Mr. Miliaresis. To do that, it was necessary to demonstrate that Mr. Yanakakis' contractual relationship was void *ab initio* -- *because*, where tortious interference claims are concerned, the law of Florida recognizes a difference between contractual relationships which are void *ab initio*, and those which are only voidable at the instance of a party to the contract. An action for tortious interference will lie in the second case, but not in the first.

The seminal decision is *United Yacht Brokers, Inc. v. Gillespie, 377* **So.2d** 668 (Fla. 1979), in which the defendants sought to avoid liability for their tortious interference with an oral brokerage agreement on the ground that the agreement was unenforceable, since it violated a statutory requirement that brokerage agreements must be in writing. This Court rejected this defense in no uncertain terms as follows:

It has long been established that an injured party may sue the party who defaults on a contract and may also maintain an independent cause of action against a wrongdoer who induced the breach [citation omitted]. This separate cause of action recognizes that economic relations are entitled to freedom from unreasonable interference. It may seem improper that a cause of action in tort should be permitted to arise, as in the instant case, from an otherwise unenforceable agreement. In this regard, Dean Prosser was quoted in *Allen v. Leybourne*, 190 So.2d 825, 828 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966), a case in which a suit for tortious interference with a contract to make a bequest was permitted, despite the unenforceability of the contract. We find his reasoning most persuasive:

The agreement need not, however, be enforceable by the plaintiff as a contract. . . . The law of course does not object to the voluntary performance of agreements merely because it will not enforce them, and it indulges in the assumption that even unenforceable promises will be carried out if no third person interferes. Accordingly, it usually is held that contracts which are voidable by reason of the statute of frauds, formal defects, lack of consideration, lack of mutuality, or even uncertainty of terms, or harsh and unconscionable

provisions, or conditions precedent to the existence of the obligation, can still afford a basis for a tort action when the defendant interferes with their performance.

W. Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts, § 129 at 932 (4th ed. 1971). In this case it is entirely reasonable to assume that absent the alleged interference, United would have been paid its commission regardless of the enforceability of its agreement with Johnson.

Although we do not condone [the plaintiff's] failure to comply with section 537.05(2), neither will we permit [the defendants] to use it as a shield to limit their liability for tortious interference, , . .

377 **So.2d** at 672. That is clearly the law in Florida, and there are a number of decisions in accord 8/

To be contrasted with *United Yacht* and its progeny are the decisions relied upon by the defendants: *Thomas* v. *Ratiner*, 462 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), *review denied*, 472 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1985), and *Sunbeam Corp. v. Masters of Miami, Inc., 225* F.2d 191 (5th Cir. 1955). In these cases, the contracts interfered with were void *ab initio*, because they were illegal or criminal in their inception or purpose, and the defendants were therefore held privileged to interfere with them. *See Restatement (Second) of Torts, \$774.* In Thomas, for example, a defendant was held privileged to interfere with an attorney's retainer contract obtained in violation of §877.02(2), Fla. Stat., which made it criminal for any person in the employ of a hospital to solicit a retainer contract on behalf of an attorney. Similarly, in

PRN of Denver, Inc. v. Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., 531 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Landry v. Hornstein, 462 So.2d 844 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Scussel v. Baker, 386 So.2d 1227 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); Calvary Church, Inc. v. Siegel, 358 So.2d 1134 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert. dismissed, 364 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1978); Allen v. Leybourne, 190 So.2d 825 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). See Restatement (Second) of Torts, \$766, Comment f. See also Cross v. American Country Insurance, 875 F.2d 625 (7th Cir. 1989) (under Illinois law, action for tortious interference with a contingency fee agreement will lie notwithstanding that the agreement does not comply with the technical requirements of the disciplinary rules).

Sunbeam Corp., a defendant was held privileged to interfere with so-called "Fair Trade Contracts" entered into under a statutory scheme which had been declared unconstitutional by this Court. See also Agudo, Pineiro & Cates, P.A. v. Harbert Construction Co,, 476 So.2d 1311 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (discussing the rule, but finding the record insufficient to demonstrate its applicability), review denied, 486 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1986).

It is this second line of cases into which the defendants hope to force the facts in this case, because success in that regard will render their tortious conduct (and their subversion of the Jones Act) privileged, and neatly excuse them from liability for the consequences of their own illegal conduct. For their reverse-claim of illegality, they rely upon \$454.23, Fla. Stat. (1983), which makes it a misdemeanor of the first degree for "[a]ny person not licensed or otherwise authorized by the Supreme Court of Florida [to] practice law " in Florida. We will demonstrate in due course that this provision is violated not merely by the practice of law without a local license, as the defendants contend; instead, it is violated only if this Court declares a particular practice like that in issue here to constitute the unauthorized practice of law. And for the several reasons which follow, we respectfully submit that this Court will not make such a declaration in this case; that Mr. Yanakakis' contractual relationship with Mr. Miliaresis was not unauthorized, and was therefore neither illegal nor criminal; that the contractual relationship was therefore not void ab initio; and that the defendants were therefore not privileged to interfere with it in any fashion without incurring liability for the damages caused by their own illegal conduct.

2. The facial legality of Mr. Yanakakis' contract.

Initially, we cannot help but observe that the defendants' complaints about Mr. Yanakakis' contractual relationship with Mr. Miliaresis are fraught with considerable irony. Mr. Stearns, who is a member of The New York Bar, represented TMS throughout the proceedings in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, and he

presently represents TMS in this Court. Like Mr. Yanakakis, he is not a member of The Florida Bar. He has engaged in the full-blown practice of law in this state, however, by the simple expedient of being temporarily admitted for that purpose **pro** hac vice -- a label which is largely a formality, and generally obtainable on request. See Rule 1-3.2(a), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Frankly, the only difference we can perceive between Mr. Stearns' practice of law in this state and Mr. Yanakakis' contractual relationship with Mr. Miliaresis is that Mr. Stearns applied for the temporary label, and Mr. Yanakakis did not -- and it is the de *minimis*, largely formal nature of this difference, we think, that plainly proves, without more, the facial legality of Mr. Yanakakis' contractual relationship.

We remind the Court that Mr. Yanakakis was a member in good standing of The Massachusetts Bar, and was admitted to practice in (among other federal courts) the United States District Court of Massachusetts, the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit, and the United States Supreme Court. Mr. Miliaresis' causes of action arose under the Jones Act and general maritime law (and, according to the defendants at least, perhaps under Greek law), and they were therefore governed exclusively by federal law. As a result, under the authority of either of the two written contracts in issue here, Mr. Yanakakis could actually have prosecuted Mr. Miliaresis' claims (without the assistance of any Florida attorneys) in a Massachusetts federal (or state) court -- and this Court could not have declared his contractual relationship with Mr. Miliaresis illegal, or proscribed its performance in that fashion by declaring it to be the "unauthorized practice of law." That point was settled in *Sperry* v. *Florida*, 373 U.S. 379, 83 S. Ct. 1322, 10 L. Ed.2d 428 (1963), where the United States Supreme Court held that this Court could not regulate the practice of law by a nonlawyer patent practitioner residing in Florida, where the practice was authorized by federal law and conducted in the appropriate federal forum.

A similar conclusion was reached more recently by this Court in **The Florida Barre**

Advisory Opinion -- Nonlawyer Preparation of Pension Plans, 571 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1990). In that proceeding, The Florida Bar asked this Court to approve an advisory opinion declaring nonlawyer involvement in the design and preparation of pension plans in Florida to be the unauthorized practice of law. Relying upon Sperry, this Court declined to approve the proposed opinion, holding instead that the practice of nonlawyers in this essentially federal area had been preempted by federal law. There are other decisions in essential accord. See, e. g., The Florida Bar v. Kaiser, 397 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 1981) (given Sperry, practice of naturalization and immigration law in Florida by lawyer admitted only in New York is not the unauthorized practice of law in Florida, but attorney would be enjoined from publishing advertising designed to mislead public into believing he was a member of The Florida Bar). Cf. The Florida Bar v. Moses, 380 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1980) (where state administrative agencies have the authority to permit nonlawyers to practice before them, Court would not declare such practice to be the unauthorized practice of law if agency exercised its authority properly).

Most respectfully, these decisions plainly prove that Mr. Yanakakis' contractual relationship with Mr. Miliaresis could have been legally performed in at least one manner, so we fail to see how the Court could legitimately declare that contractual relationship void *ab initio*, or "void from the inception," simply because it was entered into in Florida. Moreover, Mr. Yanakakis' contract for representation could have been legally performed without the assistance of Florida attorneys not merely in Massachusetts, but in Florida as well -- because Mr. Yanakakis could have prosecuted Mr. Miliaresis' federal causes of action in a federal court in Florida (just as Mr. Stearns defended TMS in the instant action), by the simple expedient of being temporarily admitted *pro hac vice* for that purpose (as Mr. Stearns was admitted in the trial court below). *See generally* Annotation, *Right to Appear Pro Hac Vice*, 33 A.L.R. Fed. 799 (1977).

Indeed, Mr. Yanakakis could have prosecuted Mr. Miliaresis' case in a Florida state court (since state courts have concurrent jurisdiction over Jones Act and maritime claims), as out-of-state attorneys frequently do, by the same simple expedient (as Mr. Stearns has in this Court). *See Huff v. State*, 569 So.2d 1247 (Fla. 1990); Rule 1-3.2, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar ("A practicing attorney of another state, in good standing, who has professional business in a court of record of this state may, upon motion, be permitted to practice for the purpose of such business upon such conditions as the court deems appropriate . . ."). In short, Mr. Yanakakis could legally have performed his contract with Mr. Miliaresis without the assistance of local attorneys in a number of different ways, in Massachusetts and Florida and probably nearly everywhere else; his contract with Mr. Miliaresis was therefore legal on its face; and it should therefore be simply impossible for this Court to declare his contractual relationship with Mr. Miliaresis void *ab initio* here.

3. The legality of Mr. Yanakakis' contract, as performed.

In hindsight, of course, an application for temporary admission *pro hac* vice might have been prudent, since it would have deprived the defendants of any basis for the hyperbolic assault which they have launched against the plaintiffs here in an effort to avoid the consequences of their own plainly illegal conduct. The fact remains, however, that Mr. Yanakakis did not apply for the formal label, and elected to perform his contract another way -- so the question remains whether a facially legal attorney-client contract which can be legally performed in one manner can nevertheless be declared void *ab initio* if subsequently performed in a different way. Frankly, we think the answer to that question has to be "no," since the phrase "void *ab initio*" means "void from the inception" -- and we think that any incidental conduct in carrying out a facially legal contract which might amount to the unauthorized practice of law should render the contract, at worst, merely voidable. See *Restatement (Second)* of *Torts*, 9774, Comment *b* (void contracts are "not contracts at all").

Nevertheless, the defendants have argued to the contrary here, and we would be remiss if we did not respond to the defendants' argument on its own terms, so we will also demonstrate that the manner in which Mr. Yanakakis performed his contractual relationship with Mr. Miliaresis did not amount to the unauthorized practice of law,

The question presented by the defendants' "void as performed" argument boils down to this specific question on the facts in this case (viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs, as they must be): is it illegal for an out-of-state attorney to enter into a contract in Florida (with a Greek citizen injured in Mexico who has claims against Greek shipping companies) to perform legal services as co-counsel with Florida attorneys in litigation arising under federal and maritime law, where the contract is an isolated transaction arising out of unique circumstances and a special relationship with the client, and where the role of the out-of-state attorney is simply to act as liaison with (and interpreter for) the client and give legal advice to the Florida attorneys on matters of federal, maritime and Greek law, and the act of representation of the client in Florida courts is undertaken solely by the Florida attorneys? We believe the answer to this question is "no," as both Mr. England and Mr. Abdoney opined in their expert affidavits below.

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